IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS.: SC10-2292 & SC10-2336 Lower Tribunal Nos.: 5D09-1146, 07-CA-1762

MARONDA HOMES, INC. OF vs. LAKEVIEW RESERVE FLORIDA, Petitioner, vs. LAKEVIEW RESERVE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., Respondent.

T.D. THOMSON CONSTRUCTION vs. COMPANY, Petitioner,

LAKEVIEW RESERVE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., Respondent.

PETITIONER T.D. THOMSON CONSTRUCTION COMPANY'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the Fifth District Court of Appeal

INTRODUCTION

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Lakeview Reserve Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Maronda Homes, Inc. of Florida, 48 So. 3d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010), should be quashed as contrary to Florida law on the application of implied warranties under common law. This Court, in Conklin v. Hurley, 428 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1983), and the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in *Port Sewall Harbor* and Tennis Club Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Martin County, 463 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), have held that a purchaser of residential real property does not have a cause of action for breach of implied warranties of habitability, fitness for a particular purpose and merchantability¹ against a developer where the defective work complained of does not pertain to the construction of the house or other improvements "immediately" supporting the house. Examples of improvements that immediately support the house are water wells and septic tank systems, purchased and owned by the individual homeowner, and without which the house would not be habitable; examples of improvements that do not immediately support a residence are roads and drainage systems, owned by a corporate entity (i.e., a homeowners' association).

The trial court below, properly adhering to *Conklin* and *Port Sewall*, granted summary judgment in favor of the Petitioners as to the Respondent's untenable

¹ Also referred to herein simply as "implied warranties of habitability."

count for breach of implied warranties as to alleged defects in the roads and stormwater drainage system in the common areas of Lakeview Reserve owned by the Lakeview Reserve Homeowners Association. The Fifth District, however, certifying conflict with the Fourth District's *Port Sewall* decision, reversed the trial court. In *Lakeview Reserve*, the Fifth District circumvented binding, on-point precedent and illogically and incorrectly relied on the doctrine of *caveat emptor* to extend the application of implied warranties of habitability to a corporate homeowners' association with respect to common area subdivision improvements that were not purchased by either the individual homeowners or the corporate homeowners' association, that, as correctly recognized by the Fourth District and the trial court, did not "immediately support" the residences, and that did not affect the habitability of the houses.

The Fifth District's decision in *Lakeview Reserve* should be reversed and the Fourth District's decision in *Port Sewall*, and the trial court's entry of summary judgment in favor of the Petitioners, should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Maronda was the owner, developer and constructor of the common areas and most, but not all, of the 159 houses in the Lakeview Reserve subdivision in Winter

2

Garden, Florida.² (R. I/11; R. II/196-98, 200, 287, 314.)³ Roger Anderson and William Blake Sonne owned 14 of the 159 lots in Lakeview Reserve. (R. I/11-12; R. II/314.)

Thomson, pursuant to its contract with Maronda, performed site development work at Lakeview Reserve including construction of the roadways, retention ponds, underground stormwater drainage system, and preliminary rough site grading. (R. II/190, 227-50, 314.) On February 14, 2001, Thomson's work was certified as being constructed in substantial compliance with the construction plans as approved by the City of Winter Garden. (R. II/189-90, 214-16.)

On March 15, 2001, the Developer, Maronda, formally created the Lakeview Reserve Homeowners Association by incorporating same (hereafter, the "Corporate Association"). (R. II/322-331.) On May 16, 2001, Maronda conveyed to the Corporate Association all right, title and interest to the common areas of

² Lakeview Reserve Homeowners Association, Inc. will be referred to herein as the "Corporate Association" or "Respondent." Maronda Homes, Inc. of Florida will be referred to as the "Developer" or "Maronda" and T.D. Thomson Construction Company will be referred to as "Thomson" or "Petitioner." Maronda and Thomson, collectively, will be referred to as the "Petitioners."

³ Unless otherwise indicated, citations are to the 5-volume Record on Appeal and 1-volume Supplemental Record on Appeal originally filed in the Fifth District Court of Appeal by the Clerk of the Court of the Circuit Court in and for Orange County, Florida. Citations will be made by the letters "R" and "SR", respectively, and the corresponding volume and page number. For example, "R. I/60" refers to Volume I of the Record at page 60 and "SR. I/984" refers to Volume I of the Supplemental Record at page 984.

Lakeview Reserve which included the roadways, retention ponds⁴ and stormwater drainage system of the subdivision. (R. I/3, 16; R. II/287-89, 315, 333-34; R. III/388-89.)

The individual house purchasers in Lakeview Reserve do not own or posses any ownership interest in the common areas (roadways, retention ponds and stormwater drainage system) at Lakeview Reserve. (R. I/16; R. II/333-34; R. V/870.) Rather, the Corporate Association owns the common areas of Lakeview Reserve. (R. II/315, 333-34.)

On October 9, 2006, the Corporate Association, now controlled by the homeowners, served a notice of claim on Maronda as to alleged defects with the common areas at Lakeview Reserve specifically listing the roadways, retention ponds and underground stormwater drainage pipes of the subdivision. (R. II/257-58.) Neither in its October 9, 2006 notice of claim nor at any time thereafter did the Corporate Association claim that repairs needed to be made to any of the individual houses in Lakeview Reserve as a result of the alleged defects with the Corporate Association-owned common areas. (R. II/257-58.)

⁴ The ponds in Lakeview Reserve are actually "detention ponds." Respondent and the Fifth District, however, refer to the ponds in Lakeview Reserve as "retention ponds" and that is how they will be referred to in this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Corporate Association filed a Complaint against Maronda asserting two counts, one for breach of implied warranties of fitness and merchantability and the other for violation of the Florida Building Code. (R. I/1-50.) The trial court granted partial summary judgment in Maronda's favor as to the Corporate Association's building code violation claim. (R. I/182-83.) Maronda asserted a Third-Party Complaint against Thomson for common law indemnity, alleging that in the event Maronda was found liable to the Corporate Association, Thomson was liable to Maronda for any damages associated with the site development work. (R. II/187-258, 259-60.)

The Corporate Association subsequently filed a First Amended Complaint containing a single count for breach of implied warranties of fitness and merchantability against Maronda and concerning the alleged defects in Lakeview Reserve's common areas which were owned by the Corporate Association. (R. II/286-91, 335-36.) Maronda and Thomson both filed motions for summary judgment on the basis that, under the authority of *Conklin v. Hurley*, 428 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1983), and *Port Sewall Harbor & Tennis Club Owner's Ass'n v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Martin County*, 463 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), implied warranties of fitness and merchantability by a developer did not extend beyond the residence and improvements immediately supporting the residence and,

therefore, the Corporate Association's claim relating to the construction and design of the common areas of Lakeview Reserve, which did not pertain to the construction of homes or other improvements immediately supporting the residences, were barred as a matter of law. (R. II/303-10, 311-34.) Thomson also moved for summary judgment as to the third-party claim asserted against it by Maronda. (R. II/311-34.)

The trial court granted the Petitioners' motions for summary judgment on the authority of this Court's decision in *Conklin* and the Fourth District's decision in *Port Sewall* and entered Final Summary Judgment in the Petitioners' favor. (R. V/844-46, 847-80.) The Corporate Association appealed and the Fifth District reversed the trial court, holding that the Corporate Association enjoyed a common law warranty of habitability as to the construction of the common areas at issue (even though these areas were not owned by the homeowners themselves). *Lakeview Reserve*, 48 So. 3d at 903-904, 908-909. (*See also* June 8, 2011 Record on Appeal from the Clerk of the Fifth District Court of Appeal at 178-190.) The Fifth District, however, recognized that its decision conflicted with the Fourth District in *Port Sewall* on the same point of law based on essentially the same facts and certified the conflict. *Id*. at 904, 909.

In its opinion, the Fifth District specifically addressed this Court's controlling holding in *Conklin* that "implied warranties of fitness and

6

merchantability do not extend to first purchasers of residential real estate for improvements to land other than the construction of a home and other improvements '*immediately supporting* the residence thereon, such as water wells and septic tanks.''' *Lakeview Reserve*, 48 So. 3d at 906 (quoting *Conklin*, 428 So. 2d at 655 (emphasis added)).

The Fifth District also recognized that in *Port Sewall* a homeowners' association brought suit based on breach of implied warranties of fitness and merchantability to recover for defects in the construction of certain roads and drainage area in the community. The Fifth District further noted that the trial court in *Port Sewall* entered a directed verdict in favor of the defendant, based on *Conklin*. The Fourth District affirmed, stating:

The foot bridge in question and the defective work complained of involved <u>roads and drainage</u> in the subdivision and <u>did not pertain to the construction of</u> <u>homes or other improvements immediately supporting</u> <u>the residences</u>. That is the <u>extent</u> of the application of implied warranties to <u>first purchasers</u> of residential real estate in Florida.

Lakeview Reserve, 48 So. 3d at 908 (quoting *Port Sewall*, 463 So. 2d at 531) (emphasis added). The Fifth District, moreover, "disagree[d] with the Fourth District's conclusion that roads and drainage in a subdivision do not immediately support the residences." *Id*.

The Fifth District, however, went on to state that the Florida Supreme Court's language in *Conklin* was ambiguous. *Id.* In addition to meaning "something that bears or holds up a structure," the Fifth District found "that the phrase also refers to essential services" *Id.* It then concluded that the common areas at issue, that is, roads, drainage systems, retention ponds and underground pipes, "are essential to the habitability of the residence" and "are all essential services" subject to implied warranties. *Id.*

The Fifth District also stated that it had created a new "essential services" test presumably in lieu of the "immediately supports" a residence test for whether an implied warranty of habitability applies. Disregarding the Florida Supreme Court's test in *Conklin*, the Fifth District announced a new test, as follows (although it seems to include multiple tests):

Thus we announce a test that is elegant in its simplicity: in the absence of the service, is the home inhabitable, that is, is it an improvement providing a service essential to the habitability of the home? If it is, then implied warranties apply. Stated another way, we expressly hold that implied warranties of fitness for a particular purpose, habitability, and merchantability apply to structures in common areas of a subdivision that immediately support the residence *in the form of essential services*.

Id. at 908-909 (emphasis added).

Maronda and Thomson invoked the Court's certified conflict jurisdiction to review the Fifth District's decision and the Court accepted jurisdiction and consolidated the cases. (June 8, 2011 Record on Appeal from the Clerk of the Fifth District Court of Appeal at 192-206, 245-261, 263, 264-265.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should reject the Fifth District's unwarranted expansion and confusion of Florida law on implied warranties. The doctrine of *caveat emptor*, relied upon by the Fifth District, does not apply or even enter the equation because the house purchasers in the subdivision were never asked to purchase, nor did they purchase or have any ownership interest in, the common areas at issue. For that matter, the Corporate Association did not purchase the roads or drainage systems either. They are, however, exclusively owned by the Corporate Association which is a creature of law and does not inhabit anything. Unlike the unique attributes of condominium common property, the roads and stormwater drainage systems at issue are not owned in undivided shares by all of the house purchasers in Lakeview Reserve; they are owned by the Corporate Association.

Moreover, the common area subdivision improvements complained of are not part of a completed structure and do not immediately support any residence in the subdivision, which is absolutely required for the application of implied warranties of habitability. In *Conklin*, this Court explained that water wells and septic tanks immediately support a residence. This is common sense because without potable water and sewage disposal, a house is not habitable. As the Fourth

9

District correctly recognized in *Port Sewall*, the same, however, cannot be said of roads and drainage systems in a subdivision, improvements that do not pertain to the construction of a house or other improvements immediately supporting the house. The dissent in *Conklin* conceded to the majority's opinion that improvements such as roads have no relationship to the habitability of a home. There is no allegation and no record evidence that the alleged defects in the common areas have made any residence in Lakeview Reserve uninhabitable.

The Respondent could have sued the Developer under a variety of theories, such as negligence, fraud, failure to warn, and breach of fiduciary. Instead, it chose to pursue Maronda only for breach of purported implied warranties of habitability, a cause of action not available to it under *Conklin* and expressly disapproved of by the Fourth District in *Port Sewall*.

The Fifth District's announcement of a new "essential service" definition/test as to whether a common area subdivision improvement immediately supports a residence was unnecessary given the clear parameters on the application of implied warranties established in *Conklin*, and it does nothing but serve to confuse this area of the law. In any event, even using the Fifth District's own test, paved roads and stormwater drainage systems in a subdivision are simply not essential to the habitability of the residences therein as undoubtedly recognized by

those who live in areas with unpaved roads or without stormwater drainage systems.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on pure questions of law is *de novo*. *D'Angelo v*. *Fitzmaurice*, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003).

ARGUMENT

I. IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF HABITABILITY ARISE FROM THE PURCHASE OF A RESIDENCE AND SHOULD NOT EXTEND TO COMMON AREA SUBDIVSION IMPROVEMENTS THAT ARE NOT PURCHASED.

The law in Florida is that implied warranties are extended to first <u>purchasers</u> of residential real property, and that these warranties apply only to the construction of a house and other improvements on the property that immediately support the residence. *Conklin v. Hurley*, 428 So. 2d 654, 658-59 (Fla. 1983). In *Lakeview Reserve*, 48 So. 3d 902 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010), the Fifth District has not only applied implied warranties to common area subdivision improvements that do not immediately support a residence, it has extended these warranties to individual homeowners and an incorporated homeowners' association, neither of which purchased the subdivision improvements.

The house purchasers in Lakeview Reserve were not asked to purchase, did not purchase, and do not own the roads and drainage systems in the subdivision. The Corporate Association also did not purchase the common areas in the subdivision. Maronda conveyed all right, title and interest to the common areas to the Corporate Association shortly after the Corporate Association was created and while controlled by the Developer, Maronda. The homeowners' later control of the Corporate Association did not resemble or constitute a "purchase" which, in turn, created a warranty, implied or otherwise. The Fifth District's reliance on the doctrine of *caveat emptor* as it relates to the <u>sale</u> of residential real property and the public policy of protecting consumers as grounds to extend implied warranties to roads and stormwater drainage systems in a subdivision, therefore, is misplaced. Since the common area subdivision improvements complained of were not purchased, the issue of the relaxation of *caveat emptor* as to the sale of residential real property does not even come into play. See, e.g., 17 Williston on Contracts § 50:26 (Richard A. Lord ed., 4th ed. 2011) ("As a general rule, the doctrine of *caveat emptor* applies to contracts for the sale of land in which a vendor conveys title, possession, and control over property to a purchaser." (citing to Stewart v. Isbell, 399 N.W.2d 440 (Mich. Ct. App. (1986) (emphasis added)).⁵

⁵ The Fifth District erroneously stated that "the Association and/or the homeowners may bring the [implied warranty] claim for these 'privately-owned' structures." *Lakeview Reserve*, 48 So. 3d at 909. It is undisputed, however, that the homeowners in Lakeview Reserve do not own the subdivision improvements and that only the Corporate Association owns the common areas.

In *Conklin*, this Court refused to extend implied warranties to a seawall abutting the residential lots because "[n]one of the petitioners <u>purchased</u> a dwelling from [respondent] Carriage Hill. The seawall was not part of a completed structure." 428 So. 2d at 658 (emphasis added). Here, neither the individual house purchasers nor the Corporate Association "purchased" the subdivision improvements from Maronda and they were not part of a completed structure. The Court should similarly decline to extend implied warranties to the common area improvements of Lakeview Reserve.

In its First Amended Complaint, Respondent defines the "premises" of Lakeview Reserve to be "the lots, improvements, and common property."⁶ (R. II/288 at ¶ 10.) Respondent then makes the following allegation that demonstrates the fallacy of extending implied warranties to the alleged defects in the common areas of Lakeview Reserve:

All of the defects referred to in Paragraphs 12(a) - (e) herein [roadways, retention ponds, underground pipes, site preparation, drainage, grading] were and are hidden or latent defects which ... were unknown to the Association and the members of its class at the time they purchased the premises.

⁶ "Common property" is a misnomer to the extent it implies common ownership akin to "condominium property" which is defined as the lands, leaseholds, and personal property "that are subjected to condominium ownership...." Fla. Stat. § 718.103(13). The correct term is "common area" which means "all real property within a community which is owned or leased by an association" Fla. Stat. § 720.301(2).

(*Id.* at \P 13.) (Emphasis added.) Implied warranties do not apply because, contrary to the Respondent's allegation, neither the individual homeowners in Lakeview Reserve nor the Corporate Association purchased the complained of subdivision improvements.

Respondent then alleges that Maronda "was the developer of the Subdivision, and owned the land, and <u>sold</u> the parcels and <u>their appurtenances</u>." (*Id.* at ¶ 13.) (Emphasis added.) Again, if by "appurtenances" Respondent means the subdivision common areas, it cannot be reasonably disputed that Maronda did not sell, and the Corporate Association and the individual house purchasers in Lakeview Reserve did not purchase, the common areas of the subdivision. Respondent also alleges that when Maronda sold houses in Lakeview Reserve it impliedly warranted that the premises were "merchantable." (R.II/288 at ¶ 10.) Roads and stormwater drainage systems, however, unlike certain types of houses, are not mass-produced or "merchantable."

Although it is a personal injury case, *Seitz v. Zac Smith & Co.*, 500 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), is instructive. *Seitz* involved the erection of a floodlight tower at a high school stadium. The tower was defectively erected resulting in the injury of a worker who fell from the tower. The plaintiff sued the various entities responsible for the design, fabrication, erection and inspection of the tower for

negligence, breach of warranty and products liability. The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the defendants and the plaintiff appealed.

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