IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBERS: SC10-2292 & SC10-2336 Lower Tribunal Case Numbers: 5D09-1146, 07-CA-1762

MARONDA HOMES, INC. OF vs. LAKEVIEW RESERVE HOMEOWNERS FLORIDA, a Florida ASSOCIATION, INC., corporation, Petitioner, Respondent. T.D. THOMSON CONSTRUCTION vs. LAKEVIEW RESERVE HOMEOWNERS COMPANY, ASSOCIATION, INC., Petitioner, Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT, LAKEVIEW RESERVE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.'S, ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fifth District's decision in Lakeview does not directly conflict with Port Sewall Harbor & Tennis Club Owners Association, Inc. v. First Federal Savings & Loan Association of Martin County, 463 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1985) and Conklin v. Hurley, 482 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1983) so as to warrant the exercise of discretionary review. The facts in this case are substantially dissimilar to those in *Conklin*. Moreover, the holdings of the Fourth District in Port Sewall and the Fifth District in Lakeview can be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with one another. Thus, this Court improvidently granted review and should decline accepting jurisdiction.

If this Court continues to accept this case for review, it should affirm the decision of the Fifth District in *Lakeview* for several reasons. First, case law, Florida Statutes, and Florida Rules of Civil Procedure support the Association's position that it has the authority to initiate legal action on behalf of itself and as a class representative of its members for defects in the common areas of the Association. The privity argument, asserted by Petitioners, that the implied warranty should not be available because the Association did not "purchase" the common

areas is disingenuous and should fail for reasons of sound logic and common sense. Homeowners associations are usually not in a position to bargain for the transfer of common areas. To prevent homeowners' associations from filing actions for all of the members of the association is a waste of judicial resources. Accordingly, Petitioners' argument in this regard must fail.

Further, the Fifth District's decision comports with the history of this state as a leader in consumer protection. As this Court was one of the first courts to extend implied warranties to residential condominiums, the Fifth District Court is in the forefront of confirming an expansion of implied warranties to further protect homeowners. Not only have other states started to recognize the need for additional protection in the real estate market, but societal changes demand that further protection is warranted. Homeowners are not simply buying homes and/or lots. They are buying into communities with improvements that the homeowners' association, and its mandatory members, are obligated to maintain and repair. Cases in the condominium setting are instructive as they provide guidance as to sound reasoning why common areas should not be treated differently than common elements. It is a difference without a distinction.

Finally, this Court has recognized that it has the power and authority to reexamine prior decisions and to alter the rule

of law previously adopted to conform to societal changes and notions of justice and fairness. Thus, Petitioners' arguments that this Court should not second guess the legislature is flawed and should be disregarded. Accordingly, this Court should uphold the decision of the Fifth District and conclude that homeowners associations have a cause of action against developers for breach of implied warranties of the common areas of the community.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Fifth District Correctly Decided That Homeowners' Associations Have Standing To Sue For Defects In Its Common Areas.

This Court should affirm the Fifth District's finding that homeowners' associations have authority to sue for defects in its common areas as it comports with public policy. Thomson argues that an implied warranty should not be available to the Association because it did not "purchase" the property or was not otherwise in privity with Maronda.(Thomson Br. 11-16.) The Fifth District correctly rejected this argument as to rule otherwise would encourage the multiplicity of lawsuits, which is contrary to public policy and judicial economy. *Lakeview Reserve Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Maronda Homes, Inc.*, 48 So. 3d 902-909 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010.)

For public policy reasons, the fact that a "purchase," in the traditional sense, did not occur between the Association and

Maronda actually provides greater support for the application of implied warranties. This Court, in Conklin v. Hurley, 482 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1983), reasoned that caveat emptor should be relaxed or abandoned because the purchaser is not in an equal bargaining position with the builder-vendor and the ordinary homebuyer would be unable to detect flaws in the construction of houses. Conklin, 428 So. 2d at 657-58. Here, the property transfer between the Association and Maronda did not simply place the parties in unequal bargaining positions. Instead, no opportunity to bargain was allowed at all. Maronda transferred the common to the Association, without giving it the chance to areas negotiate the conveyance. (R. at I/16.) It is not logical, nor in conformance with public policy to prohibit the application of an implied warranty simply because there was not some type of purchase agreement. See Heritage in the Hills Homeowners Ass'n v. Heritage of Auburn Hills, L.L.C., No. 286074, slip op. at 11-12 (Mich. Ct. App. Feb. 6, 2010). If this Court was to adopt such reasoning, developers could avoid liability for defects in areas by inserting disclaimers into the purchase common agreements of homeowners, and the association would be left without a remedy. Id. In fact, this is exactly what Maronda attempted to do. (R. I/66-71.) Maronda placed disclaimers of warranties in Lakeview's Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions ("Declaration") and argued in its first Motion

for Summary Judgment that the Association expressly waived any implied warranties due to the language in the Declaration. (*Id.*) The trial court properly denied such Motion. (R. I/182-83). Certainly, the *Conklin* court did not envision unscrupulous developers avoiding liability on a technicality.

Second, Strathmore Gate-East at Lake St. George Homeowners Association, Inc. v. Levitt Homes, Inc., 537 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), has already held that privity is not necessary for a homeowners' association to maintain a cause of action against a developer for breach of implied warranty. Id. at 658. In that case, the homeowners' association on behalf of itself as well as a class representative of the homeowners, filed its complaint against the developer of the neighborhood, Levitt Homes, Inc. seeking damages for defects in the common areas, including roads, landscaping, and other improvements. Strathmore Gate-East at Lake St. George Homeowners Association, Inc. v. Levitt Homes, Inc., No. 85-05223-016 (Fla. Pinellas Cty. Cir. Ct.) (3rd Am. Cmplt. $\P\P9-11.$ (See App. to this brief). The Association claimed that there was an implied warranty that the common areas were reasonably fit for their intended purpose and merchantable, and that the common areas were constructed in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the appropriate governmental entity, and in accordance with good design, engineering and construction practices. Id. Levitt filed a

motion for judgment on the pleadings, arguing that there was a lack of privity between it and the Association. Id. at Def's Mem. Supp. Summ. J. 3-4. Citing Gable v. Silver, 258 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), and Drexel Properties, Inc. v. Bay Colony, 406 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), Levitt asserted that the Association could not be classified as an original purchaser, just as Thomson argues in its brief. Id. The trial judge entered a final judgment on the pleadings, in favor of Levitt. Strathmore, 537 So. 2d at 658. However, the Second District reversed, ruling that "as the owner of the common areas and with the responsibility of maintaining them - a status which the developer created for the benefit of the homeowners - the Association has a cause of action against the developer for any defects in the construction of the common areas." Id. Accordingly, the Fifth District, in Lakeview, just confirmed the status of law in Florida as pronounced by the Second District in Strathmore.

merit Thomson's argument is without Finally, as the Association filed this lawsuit on behalf of itself and its members. (R. II/287.) Section 720.303(1), Florida Statutes, and Rule 1.221, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, give the Association standing to sue on behalf of its members as a class action. Specifically, Section 720.303(1), provides that homeowners' associations have authority to sue on behalf of its

members concerning common areas and improvements which the association is responsible for maintaining. Accordingly, this Court should affirm Lakeview's holding that homeowners' associations have authority to file suits on behalf of itself and its members for defects in the common areas.

B. This Court Should Determine That The Fifth District's Decision Does Not Conflict With Port Sewall And Conklin.

Association urges this Court to reconsider The its acceptance of jurisdiction over the present case. In several instances, this Court has initially accepted jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution, only to later dismiss the case after further consideration. See Vega v. Indep. Fire Ins. Co., 666 So. 2d 897 (Fla. 1996); Blevins v. State, 829 So. 2d 872 (Fla. 2002); Famiglietti v. State, 838 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 2003). This Court improvidently granted jurisdiction as there is not actual and express direct conflict between Port Sewall Harbor & Tennis Club Owners Association, Inc. v. First Federal Savings & Loan Association of Martin County, 463 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), and Lakeview Reserve Homeowners Association, Inc. v. Maronda Homes, Inc., 48 So. 3d 902, 909 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010). Even if this Court finds that there is an actual and express direct conflict, it would only arise from obitur dicta, which this Court has previously held does not warrant discretionary review.

Accordingly, this Court should exercise its discretion by dismissing the petition for lack of conflict.

While the Fifth District certified conflict with the Fourth District's decision in Port Sewall, upon a thorough reading of Port Sewall, no such direct conflict exists. In Port Sewall, the Second District never held that all roads and drainage systems were automatically excluded from an implied warranty of habitability claim, as the Fifth District implies. Actually, Port Sewall is void of any language defining "immediately supporting improvements" or stating that roadways and drainage would never qualify as such. Rather, the Second District simply applied the rule of law announced by this Court in Conklin, to the specific facts presented to it by stating that the plaintiff did not properly allege that the defective roads and drainage satisfied the "immediately supporting" requirement. Port Sewall, 463 So. 2d at 531. Conversely, in Lakeview, the Fifth District applied the specific facts before it in holding that the plaintiff did properly allege that the defective roads and drainage satisfied the "immediately supporting" requirement. Lakeview, 48 So. 3d at 908. Thus, no conflict arises from the four corners of the Districts' decisions as required for a direct conflict. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

Further, the Second District's holding in Port Sewall applying Conklin, which is the basis for the alleged conflict, was not an essential holding of the case, but was merely dicta. The Second District's opinion specifically states that "[E]ven if implied warranty was a relevant theory of liability it could not be applied to the peculiar facts of this case," the peculiar facts consisting of a lender owning the common areas due to a mortgage foreclosure. Port Sewall, 463 So. 2d at 531. Thus, the application of the facts in Conklin to the facts in Port Sewall was not relevant to the decision. For the foregoing reasons, this Court should further reconsider accepting jurisdiction over the present case and exercise its discretion by dismissing the petition for review for lack of conflict.

C. The Fifth District Correctly Found That Public Policy Requires Further Protection For Homeowners.

The Fifth District eloquently summarized its reasoning with the following quote:

We believe this ruling is in keeping with Florida's strong public policy of protecting consumers in a situation where they must rely on the expertise of the builder/developer for proper construction of these complex structures, where they are in an inferior position to inspect the work and to correct the defects in the construction phase and where the defects are not readily discernible to the average homeowner. We also believe this is an exercise in common sense.

Lakeview, 48 So. 3d at 909. This Court should further uphold Florida's strong public policy of protecting consumers by affirming the Fifth District's decision.

1. The Developing National Trend Favors Expansion of Implied Warranties.

a. <u>The Warranty of Habitability is Defined</u> <u>Inconsistently.</u>

A survey of the application of the implied warranty of the definition of "habitability" habitability and is inconsistent throughout the fifty states. "The expansion of implied warranties has resulted in а blurring of the 'distinction, if any, between an implied warranty of habitability and implied warranty of qood quality and workmanship . . . in decisional law throughout the country.'" Davencourt at Pilgrams Landing Homeowners Ass'n v. Davencourt at Pilgrams Landing, LLC, 221 P.3d 234, 252 (Utah 2009). However, in some states the warranties are completely separate.¹ In fact, one of the cases cited for support by Petitioners, Board of

¹ See, eg. Krugh v. Laurich, 17 Pa. D. & C. 4th 666, 671 (1991) (noting that the warranty of good workmanship is closely related, but somewhat less demanding, than the warranty of habitability); Luker v. Arnold, 843 S.W. 2d 108, 115 (Tex. Ct. App. 1992) (finding that the warranty of habitability is different from the warranty of good and workmanlike manner as habitability requires the house be fit for humans to inhabit, but that workmanlike manner requires a developer to act as an ordinary and prudent developer would); Meadowbrook Condo. Ass'n v. South Burlington Realty Corp., 565 A.2d 238, 240 (Vt. 1989) (distinguishing between the warranty of habitability and the warranty of good workmanship).

Directors of Bloomfield Club Recreation Association, Inc. v. The Hoffman Group, 712 N.E.2d 330 (Ill. 1999), also recognized a distinction between a warranty of habitability and the implied warranty of workmanship. Bloomfield, 712 N.E.2d at 336-37.

First, we should address whether Florida has developed a distinction between the warranties and determine which warranty is at issue in this review. The most commonly available causes of action for breach of implied warranties can be placed into three groups: (1) failure to construct according to plans; (2) failing to construct in a good and workmanlike manner; and (3) failing to construct a home that is reasonably habitable. Laura Coln, *Deconstructing Warranties in the Construction Industry*, 83 Apr. Fla. B.J. 8, 14 (2009); see also Schmeck v. Sea Oats Condo. Ass'n Inc., 441 So. 2d 1092, 1097 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983).

The implied warranty pled in the Association's case is as follows: that the premises, including the lots, improvements, and common property were reasonably fit for the ordinary and general purposes for which they were intended, that they were merchantable, that they were built in a good and workmanlike manner, that they were not substandard, that they were in good repair, and that they were built in accordance with the developer's approved plans and specifications and applicable building codes. (R. III/288.) This implied warranty is not necessarily akin to the warranty of habitability, although at

times, it is difficult to determine which warranty a court is analyzing. See, e.g. Lochrane Engineering, Inc. v. Willingham Realgrowth Invest. Fund, Ltd., 552 So. 2d 228 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) (initially addressing the implied warranty of habitability in Gable, then finding a warranty of workmanlike manner). For these reasons, it is tricky to refer to the decisions of other jurisdictions for guidance in this matter; yet, we must try.

It is important to define Florida's test for a breach of implied warranty of habitability as other states provide a different test.² Florida's standard for implied warranty of habitability is whether the premises meet ordinary, normal standards reasonably expected of living quarters of comparable kind and quality. See Putnam v. Roudebush, 352 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); Hesson v. Walmsley Const. Co., 422 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). This does not mean that the developer must deliver a perfect house. But it does mean that major defects, as determined by the trier of fact, entitle the original buyer to damages to remedy or repair the defects. See Drexel Properties,

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